No. 70064-2

WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE

THE MCNAUGHTON GROUP, LLC, A Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent

v.

HAN ZIN PARK AND REGINA KYUNG PARK, Husband and Wife, and the Marital Community Property Comprised Thereof,

Appellants

Appeal from Washington Superior Court for Snohomish County No. 06-2-11471-8

2013 VILLA VILLING

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Jamie Jensen Mukilteo Law Office PO Box 105 4605 116th Street SW, Suite 101 Mukilteo, Washington 98275-0105 (425) 212-2100

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by allowing this matter to proceed to trial and by granting judgment on a void contract, a real estate contract that had no legal description. The lack of a legal description in a real estate contract makes the contract void. Tax numbers do not replace a legal description for platted property. An incomplete reference to a non-existent document is also insufficient.
- 2. The trial court erred by granting judgment to the plaintiff without requiring that the plaintiff prove that the defendants were not ready, willing, and able to sell their property. The only way to recovery on a contract that is void due to the statute of frauds is to prove that the sellers were not prepared to close. The defendants have always been prepared, and enthusiastic, to close. The defendants were also forced to remain ready to sell by the filing of the lis pendens.
- 3. The trial court erred in ordering appellants' former counsel to come to the trial and to testify at the behest of the respondents and against the express objections of the appellants. The trial court further erred by allowing the plaintiff to present inadmissible character and prior-act evidence that had no bearing on the case at bar, all to the complete prejudice of the defendants, denying them a fair trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Summary

Han and Regina Parks (the "Parks") own approximately 4.5 acres of land in Edmonds, Washington. After retiring the Parks sought to sell their land. They had some negotiations with The McNaughton Group, LLC ("TMG") in 2004 but those negotiations failed to culminate in a real estate contract.

In 2005 the parties again negotiated on the sale of the appellants' property to the respondent. An agreement was executed but the agreement did not contain a legal description, rendering the agreement void.

The sale did not close for a number of reasons. TMG then brought this action against the Parks seeking specific performance and damages. The Parks disputed the validity of the contract and plead that the TMG complaint failed to state a cause upon which relief could be granted.

Several motions for summary judgment were brought and heard. The matter proceeded to a six-day jury trial. The trial judge refused to allow the Parks to argue the lack of legal description or the question as to the purchase price. The trial court also ordered the Parks' former counsel to testify on behalf of the opposing party over the strenuous objection of the Parks, among other errors. Judgment was rendered in favor of TMG for over \$900,000.00. This appeal followed.

The Parks seek to have the judgment of the trial court overturned in its entirety and to have the alleged contract between the parties be declared void as a matter of law. The Parks believe that this case should have been determined in their favor at their first summary judgment motion. The Parks ask, in the alternative, for a new trial to allow them to have a fair and just trial of the case on all of the remaining merits, if any.

Earlier pleadings in this case included a third-party defendant. That party is no longer a part of this case.

Facts

At the outset the relative negotiating disparity between the parties should be understood. TMG proclaimed itself the largest developer in Snohomish County. [RP 108]. It employed dozens of people, including two attorneys and several other parties with significant real estate experience Conversely, the defendants, the Parks, had both been born and had their early education in South Korea. [RP 368] They were both medical professionals at the University of Washington. [RP 373,584-5] They had sold one other parcel of land in Washington State approximately 30 years earlier. [RP 785]

The situation that is the basis of this case began in 2004 when the

Parks decided to sell their property. [RP 380-1] The Parks own homestead property in Edmonds, Washington, consisting of approximately 4.5 acres in four separate but contiguous parcels, and containing their home and two other homes that they held for rental. [RP 378] They owned their property for several years, raising two daughters, both dentists. [RP 376] The Parks also had a contract to purchase another contiguous lot from the City of Edmonds. [RP 458] The sale to TMG included an assignment of the contract that they had with the City of Edmonds. [RP 310]

1. Preparing for the Sale

Since the Parks had only sold one other property in Washington State in their lifetimes they contacted a real estate broker [RP 380] who then contacted several potential buyers and identified four. [RP 381] TMG appeared to be the best option so they negotiated only with TMG. [RP 381] The parties came very close to an agreement to transfer the property in September, 2004, but TMG withdrew their offer. [RP 388]

The parties came back together in February, 2005, [RP 61] and were able to come up with an agreement. That contract is the basis of this lawsuit. The document itself is a virtual hodgepodge of real estate terms and concepts but without a legal description. [TR EXH 10] The document also has several internal conflicts and references to undefined addenda and is therefore void for violating the statute of frauds. On the first page of the agreement the words "counter addendum and three pages of prior addendum" were found. This phrase has come to be the center point of significant debate between the parties. Each of the parties believes that that language refers to a different document. The Parks believe that the phrase refers to a document called the "counter offer addendum". [TR EXH 115, TR EXH 160A] TMG argues that the phrase refers to an "Addendum B" which contains the word "counteroffer" hand written in the body of the document. [TR EXH 10, p. 10] TMG objected to the counter offer addendum of the Parks, claiming that it was not signed by TMG. However, the original was lost so it is not known if it was signed or not.

Regarding the "three pages of previous addendum" (sic), there is no description of the three pages in the purchase agreement. None of the documents that are proposed by TMG to fit this description are signed by either party, the Parks or TMG, or have any other connection with the alleged agreement. [TR EXH 10]

2. The Counteroffer Addendum

The Parks' document, the counter offer addendum, is significant to the parties because it appears to raise the purchase price by \$180,000. To

understand this document reference is made to the 2004 negotiations. One of the terms of the 2004 documentation that the Parks wanted included in the final contract was an agreement that TMG would "advance" the Parks \$180,000 against the sales price if TMG ever needed the Parks to vacate their home prior to closing. [TR EXH 2, p. 9, RP 418] The Parks wanted to be sure that they had sufficient funds to purchase a new home or to make other living arrangement.

The document was created on February 20, 2005, and in the middle of the second negotiations on the sale. The realtor presented the Parks with the document that she had labeled a "Counteroffer Addendum". This document was drafted by the realtor and has the same appearance as several other documents drafted by the realtor for this transaction. This "Counteroffer Addendum" (COA) appeared to raise the price that would be paid by TMG. It appears that the realtor had used the possible "advance" required by the Parks, stated above, and added it to the original offer price, rather than the existing price.

Upon receipt of the COA the Parks were thrilled. [RP 461-2] The Parks had not asked or negotiated for the increase. They did not know why TMG had increased its offer but they were willing to accept the new price. They signed the COA and returned it to the realtor. Neither party has been able to find the original to show whether or not it was signed by TMG.

3. Addendum B

As soon as the dispute between the parties became apparent TMG offered a document titled "Addendum B" and claimed that it was the counter addendum that was reference on the first page of the agreement. In fact, the agreement had two Addendum Bs. [TR EXH 10, p. 10, 11] The Addendum B that is proposed by TMG states that it is an addendum to the agreement dated February 19, 2005. This cannot be right. There was no agreement dated February 19, 2005 between these parties.

Addendum B contains some initials from the parties that postdate execution of Addendum B and the COA. These initials are attached to the confusing extension of the counteroffer. The words state "This counteroffer is good til 2/25/05". But no counteroffer was being made at that time. If the handwritten phrase, written by the realtor, were excluded entirely from the document the document would still be complete. The handwritten phrase adds nothing and takes nothing away from the document. Yet, the realtor had it initialed by both parties at the bottom, originally, then initialed again. The Parks have argued that this document, by itself, is so confusing that it renders the contract uncertain, resulting in a necessary determination that the parties did not have a meeting of the minds on this agreement, if it were effective. The Parks have testified that it was replaced by the COA.

In reviewing these two documents, the COA and the Addendum B, it is apparent that Addendum B was presented to the Parks for signature on February 19, 2005, but that the COA was presented the next day, on February 20, 2005, when it was signed by the Parks and transmitted to TMG.

4. Delivery of the Completed Agreement

Following the signing of most of the documents on February 20, 2005, parts of the documents were again circulated to allow for changes in the feasibility study time, but not on any issue regarding the price. No further discussions or signatures were needed relative to the price and none were given. All initials for the purchase price were dated earlier than February 28, 2006. The final documents were executed on February 28, 2005. The next day, on March 1, 2005, the realtor faxed a copy of the whole agreement, including the COA, to the Parks. [TR EXH 160A] The COA that the Parks received had not been signed by TMG but the copy did have TMG's fax line at the bottom, showing that TMG had had the document at one time. The Parks were assured by the realtor that the

transaction was complete under the terms that they had discussed, including the increase in price. [RP 464] TMG deposited \$200,000.00 as earnest money, which was received by the Parks. [TR EXH 51, 53, 54]

At about the same time the Parks indicated that they were having trouble renting their properties because the sale was imminent. TMG offered that it would pay the Parks \$2,000 per month to compensate for the rental of the homes, which payments were made during the duration of the agreement. The homes remained vacant during that time and became dilapidated and unusable. They have never been re-rented. One has now burned down and the other has suffered such extensive damage that it is unrecoverable. [RP 332]

Under the terms of the contract TMG was allowed to work to plat the property over a period of one year. As that first year came to a close the Parks were contacted by TMG, through the realtor, with a request that they extend the agreement for six 30 day periods, for which TMG would pay \$10,000 for each extension. [RP 332] The Parks agreed. All six extensions were used and were paid for by TMG. [TR EXH 17-22] It is unclear why TMG would make this offer, as the contract allowed them two 90 day extensions for \$10,000 each. [TR EXH 10, Addend p. 3 of 4, para 10] Apparently, that clause was forgotten by TMG when it made its offer for the extension.

5. The Parks Become Aware of a Problem

Some time during June, 2006, and while the extension payments were being made, the Parks became informed that TMG intended to pay \$2,425,000 for the property, and no more. The Parks became confused, since they had signed the COA which raised the price to \$2,580,000. The Parks immediately attempted to contact the realtor. [RP 476] The realtor failed and refused to respond to any of their calls. [RP 562] The Parks then sent letters, then registered letters to the realtor requesting information. None of the correspondence was answered by the realtor.

The Parks later learned that their realtor, a dual realtor with TMG, had been instructed by TMG during the summer, 2006, not to contact the Parks. [RP 199] Although she was a dual agent, the realtor agreed not to engage in any contact with the Parks. By this action TMG removed the only professional who is working with the Parks and on their behalf. It was also learned that the realtor had several significant and valuable transactions with TMG prior to the Park matter. In 2005 the realtor had six transactions with TMG, totaling \$147,175 in commissions, or 50.07% of her income for 2005. In 2006 she had 29 transactions with TMG, totaling \$962,250, or 92.4% of her income in 2006. [RP 200] The Parks

were not notified that the realtor had such involvement with TMG. The transaction in this case is the only transaction the Parks ever had with the realtor.

The Parks then felt compelled to contact TMG to confirm the condition of the transaction. [RP 478] During the early summer of 2006 TMG had contacted the Parks and had discussed another six month extension of the contract. [RP 476] The Parks were amenable to an extension but wanted to know about the purchase price and the COA. They were told, by Mr. Messmer, an attorney at TMG, that TMG was unfamiliar with a COA and that the purchase price was \$2,425,000. [RP 475-6, TR EXH 23] The Parks then indicated that they must not have a complete copy of the agreement. Since the realtor would not respond to the Parks Mr. Messmer instructed the realtor to provide the Parks with a full copy of the contract. Based on Mr. Messmer's instruction, the realtor did produce a full copy of the agreement. It did not contain the COA. [TR EXH 160A] The Parks brought this fact to the attention of Mr. Messmer, who responded on September 1, 2006. [TR EXH 32]

As the closing on the sale approached, in September, 2006, the Parks remained unclear regarding the terms of the contract. They voiced their concerns but never received complete responses. Up until the failed closing, and for some time after that date, the Parks had made diligent and concerted effort to see the agreement completed. [TR EXH 26, 31, 37, 142] They made numerous calls to all parties, they send numerous and extensive letters in an effort to explain their confusion and to seek information. Throughout the summer of 2006 the Parks made every effort possible to see that the transaction was completed correctly. Their efforts were met with little or no response from either the realtor or TMG.

6. The Failed Tender and Closing

Throughout the negotiating time TMG indicated that it would tender performance of the contract on September 12, 2006. [TR EXH 32] This date was found on a number of documents, and as late as Friday before the scheduled Monday closing. [TR EXH 34] However, the correct final date to tender performance under the contract was September 11, 2006. [TR EXH 37] The Parks informed TMG that the final closing date should be September 11. TMG did not respond to that information. However, on September 11 TMG apparently realized its error. TMG then had all of their documents prepared on September 11, but not tendered to the Parks. The Parks testified that they were never informed of a September 11 closing. [RP 486] The Parks testified that they were at home that entire day and could have gone to the closing if one had existed. [RP 486]

After the closing failed to occur TMG brought this action, claiming specific performance and damages. [CP 608-650]

TMG then filed a Notice of Lis Pendens, [CP 651-2] which is a document that is filed with the County Auditor, the recording office for all real estate related documents, for the purpose of letting the public know that TMG was suing the Parks to obtain the land. Such a notice of lis pendens is a significant cloud on the Parks' title and renders the property unsaleable. The Parks denied the claims in the complaint. [CP 562-605]

TMG engaged in discovery and took the depositions of the Parks. Once that initial discovery had been completed the case appeared to grind to a halt. No further discovery was had by any party and no substantive pleadings were filed until July, 2011. There were a number of procedural pleadings regarding the continuance of the trial date, but little else.

Throughout the negotiating period, and following the commencement of pleadings TMG continued to proceed with the platting of the Park property. Although the Parks had not proceeded to the closing, TMG must still have believed that it would obtain the Park land. TMG attended meetings and had their contractors complete the engineering necessary for the platting process. The plat was approved in January, 2007, and four months after the failed closing. [RP 116]

The McNaughtons, owners of TMG, filed personal bankruptcy in 2012. Later in the year TMG filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy. No action is being taken by the Parks to attempt to collect against TMG. The Parks now only seek to contest and to defend against the claim of TMG and to obtain any setoff that may be deserved.

RECENT PROCEDURAL EVENTS

As trial approached the Parks brought a three part motion before the court. [CP 559-61] They were heard by Judge Downes. The first part was for a finding that the agreement between the parties was invalid as it violated the Statute of Frauds. The second part concerned using a deposition as the testimony of Dr. Park. The third was for summary judgment against TMG.

In response to this motion, Judge Downes determined that there were issues of material fact regarding the agreement between the parties so summary judgment could not be granted. Secondly, Judge Downes declined to allow Dr. Park to testify only by deposition. Third, Judge Downes found that there were issues of material fact concerning TMG and that summary judgment would be improper at this point. [CP 462-4]

As the parties stood to leave the courtroom Mr. Lars Neste, counsel

for the realtor, made an oral motion to the court to ask if the court would find that the contract was valid as a matter of law. Mr. Neste represented the realtor and did not represent either TMG or the Parks, the only two parties to the agreement. The court agreed to consider the matter. The following week Judge Downes issued an order that did not answer the question at all but instead went in a different direction. It said that, while the contract may or may not be complete, the Parks had failed to plead the affirmative defense of Statute of Frauds, as argued by the realtor only, and were therefore foreclosed from doing so with so little time before the trial, which was scheduled for June 25, 2012. [CP 446-8] Judge Downes did not indicate whether the affirmative defense was required in the case against the realtor or against TMG. The realtor brought up the issue of affirmative defense, but TMG seized upon it, acting as if it applied to TMG. The Order itself does not give any indication. TMG had not plead lack of affirmative defense or any lack of notice of the Parks' defenses. [CP 489-501]

The Parks then brought an extensive Motion for Reconsideration. In it the Parks pointed out that there was only one question in the whole case with TMG, whether there was a complete contract. The Parks had disputed the validity of the contract at every turn, including their motion for summary judgment. The Motion for Reconsideration was summarily denied by Judge Downes. {CP 182-184] The trial was later rescheduled for December 11, 2012 but was not heard until January 22, 2013.

Summary judgment was then brought by the realtor before Judge Ellis. Judge Ellis made an extensive order on this case but refused to consider the question of the legal description, determining, instead, to rely on Judge Downes findings. [CP 162-81]

Summary judgment was then brought by TMG, seeking a finding that the contract was valid and that the only outstanding question was damages. This matter was heard by Judge Weiss who denied summary judgment to TMG based on the confusing addendum B. Judge Weiss did not have to consider the legal description question. [CP 159-61]

The case then went to a jury trial before Judge Okrent. The Parks moved for a pretrial order from Judge Okrent determining that the purchase agreement was void due to the statute of frauds. [RP 8-14] This motion was renewed at the close of the plaintiff's case [RP 356-66] and again after the trial was complete. [RP CP 6-7] All of the Parks motions were denied.

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