No. 70064-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

THE McNAUGHTON GROUP, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

HAN ZIN PARK and REGINA KYUNG PARK, husband and wife, and the marital community property comprised thereof,

Defendants/Appellants.

Plaintiff/Respondent's Brief in Opposition

Christopher I. Brain WSBA #5054 Mary B. Reiten, WSBA #33623 Adrienne D. McEntee, WSBA #34061 TOUSLEY BRAIN STEPHENS PLLC 1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101 206.682.5600

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. Standard of Review

The Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's findings of facts to determine whether substantial evidence supports those factual findings, and, if so, whether those findings support the trial court's conclusions of law. Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., Inc., 132 Wn. App. 546, 555, 132 P.3d 789 (2006). "Substantial evidence" exists when there is a sufficient

quantity of evidence to persuade a fair-minded, rational person that a finding is true. <u>In re Estate of Jones</u>, 152 Wn.2d 1, 8, 100 P.3d 805 (2004). The Court of Appeals reviews questions of law and conclusions of law de novo. Hegwine, 132 Wn. App. at 556.

B. The Parks Never Asserted the Statute of Frauds as Defense

Civil Rule 8(c) requires a defendant to affirmatively allege the statute of frauds as a defense: "In a pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively ... statute of frauds ..." (Emphasis added). The appellate court reviews a trial court's decision that an affirmative defense has been waived for abuse of discretion. Bickford v. City of Seattle, 104 Wn. App. 809, 813, 17 P.3d 1240 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court exercises its discretion on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. Kirshenbaum v. Kirshenbaum, 84 Wn. App. 798, 805, 929 P.2d 1204 (1997).

The Parks assert that the trial court's order continuing the trial date mooted Judge Downes' decision striking their affirmative defense of the statute of frauds. What the Parks fail to state, is that they moved for reconsideration after Judge Downes moved the trial date to December

2012. Compare CP 188-218 and CP 446-48. On reconsideration, Judge Downes upheld his prior ruling – holding that the defense of the statute of frauds had been waived and denying the Parks' motion on its merits. CP 182-84. Thus, even if the trial court erred in holding that the defense had been waived, as explained below, it did not err in holding that the Parks did not prove that the statute of frauds voided the 2005 PSA.

C. The Parks Did Not Raise the Defense of Uncertainty in the Trial Court

The Parks now argue that the 2005 PSA "is so confusing" and "uncertain" that no meeting of the minds took place. Park Brief at p. 12. But the Parks did not raise the defense of uncertainty during trial. See CP 562-607 (Answer), CP __ (Dkt. #194) (Proposed JIs); RP 356:8-366:18 (Mot. Dir. Verdict), 618:4-624:5 (JIs Arg.) Thus, they are precluded from raising it in this appeal. Prater v. City of Kent, 40 Wn. App. 639, 642, 699 P.2d 1248 (1985) (refusing to entertain claim of retaliatory termination based on sex discrimination because the issue was not raised below).

The Parks also fail to state that as of the date the trial was continued, the discovery cutoff had passed. The orders continuing the trial date did not reopen discovery. See CP (Dkt. #120, 170). Nor did the Parks seek to amend their answer to assert the statute of frauds as a defense at any time before the case went to trial.

To the extent that the Court entertains this issue, Mark

McNaughton and Julie Manolides explained the four exchanges that

resulted in the 2005 PSA: (1) TMG's offer; (2) the Parks' Counter; (3)

TMG's Counter; (4) the Parks' acceptance. See Exs. 6-10; RP 60:15-78:7;

491:14-497:25. Was the 2005 PSA messy? Yes. Was it uncertain? No.

Moreover, the Court may rely on the parties' subsequent conduct when interpreting a contract. 25 David K. DeWolf, Keller W. Allen, *et al.*, Washington Practice: Contract Law and Practice §5.3 (Supp. 2012) ("The role of the court is to determine the mutual intentions of the contracting parties according to the reasonable meaning of their words <u>and acts."</u>) (emphasis added); <u>see also Berg v. Hudesman</u>, 115 Wn.2d 657, 668, 801 P.2d 222 (1990) ("In discerning the parties' intent, subsequent conduct of the contracting parties may be of aid, and the reasonableness of the parties' respective interpretations may also be a factor in interpreting a written contract.") (emphasis added).

Here, until August 24, 2006, the Parks treated the purchase and sale agreement that they accepted on February 28, 2005 – the 2005 PSA – as complete and enforceable. Indeed, they accepted \$60,000 in extension payments and \$34,000 in rental mitigation payments under the contract. Exs. 15-21, 61. On June 29, 2006, the Parks asked for more money from

extension payments. Ex. 22. And on August 24, they asked again for the same thing – they did not mention any ambiguities or vague terms that they felt made the document unenforceable. Ex. 26. Those allegations did not arise until August 31, and then the Parks complained that the price was incorrect. Ex. 31. Thus, the Parks' behavior before the September 11, closing date demonstrates their belief that the contract was complete and enforceable and, if any dispute existed, it related to the purchase price.

Moreover, when the Parks answered TMG's complaint, they crossclaimed on the grounds that the 2005 PSA was an enforceable contract and that TMG had breached the 2005 PSA by failing to tender the correct price. See CP 574-76. Like the Parks' failure to raise the issue of uncertainty during trial in either their motion for directed verdict or proposed jury instructions, the fact that the Parks sought to actually enforce the contract, albeit at a different price, demonstrates that they believed all terms other than price to be certain and enforceable.

D. The 2005 PSA Complies With the Statute of Frauds

Washington's statute of frauds requires that "[e]very conveyance of real estate, or any interest therein, and every contract creating or evidencing any encumbrance upon real estate, shall be by deed." RCW 64.04.010. That is, Washington requires "a description of the land

sufficiently definite to locate it without recourse to oral testimony" or "a reference to another instrument which does contain a sufficient legal description." <u>Bigelow v. Mood</u>, 56 Wn.2d 340, 341, 353 P.2d 429 (1960) (citing Bingham v. Sherfey, 38 Wn.2d 886, 234 P.2d 489 (1951)).

1. <u>Tax Parcel Numbers May Substitute for a Legal</u> <u>Description</u>

Bingham v. Sherfey, 38 Wn.2d 886, 234 P.2d 489 (1951), held that references to tax parcel numbers in a real estate contract complies with the statute of frauds. Id. at 889. Courts have found such incorporation by reference to be valid because tax parcel numbers refer to another instrument that contains a sufficient description – namely the assessor's roll. Id. at 888-89. For example, in City of Centralia v. Miller, 31 Wn.2d 417, 197 P.2d 244 (1948), cited with approval in Bingham at 888-89, the Court held that tax parcel numbers were sufficient to "afford[] an intelligent means for identifying the property and do[] not mislead." Id. at 424. "In other words, if a person of ordinary intelligence and understanding can successfully use the description in an attempt to locate and identify the particular property sought to be conveyed, the description answers its purpose and must be held sufficient." Id.

Here, the 2005 PSA sets forth not only the address of the properties, but also the tax parcel numbers. Any person of "ordinary intelligence and understanding" would successfully locate the Park property that was the subject of the 2005 PSA. On this basis alone, the statute of frauds is satisfied.

The Parks argue that no witness proved that the tax parcel numbers in the 2005 PSA correlated with information in the tax assessor's office.

Park Brief at p. 29. But, as the trial court found in denying their motion for a directed verdict on this issue:

The contract in Exhibit 10 does refer to the legal descriptions via the tax parcel numbers, and via a reference to the prior agreement from 2004. And when I read that in context with Exhibit 4, which clearly has legal descriptions, which have been admitted as evidence, it's clearly a jury question at this point.

RP 363:19-25.

Relying on <u>Bingham v. Sherfey</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Tenco</u>, <u>Inc. v.</u>

<u>Manning</u>, 59 Wn.2d 479, 368 P.2d 372 (1962), the Parks argue that the ability to include tax parcel numbers in a real estate contract applies only to contract for the sale of unplatted property. Park Brief at pp. 27-28. But neither the <u>Bingham</u> case nor the <u>Tenco</u> case stands for that proposition.

The <u>Bingham</u> court dealt with a contract for the sale of unplatted property

and never reached the issue of whether tax parcel numbers could also be used for platted property. <u>Bingham</u>, 38 Wn.2d at 490.

The <u>Tenco</u> court only mentioned metes and bounds in passing:

"<u>Martin v. Seigel</u> has since been qualified to a certain extent but, along with <u>Bingham v. Sherfey</u> [citation omitted], which sets forth description requirements for unplatted property, and other cases" <u>Tenco</u>, 59

Wn.2d at 484-85. But the <u>Tenco</u> court addressed the issue of whether a legal description based on mutual mistake could be reformed despite the statute of frauds. The trial court answered that question in the affirmative and never addressed whether tax parcel numbers could be used in real estate contracts for the sale of platted property. <u>Id</u>. 485. Indeed, no viable public policy exists that supports the limitation suggested by the Parks, and the Parks have cited to none.

2. The Park Addendum, Ex. 4, Contains the Complete Legal Description for Each of the Park's Parcels

Similarly, in addition to listing tax parcel numbers the Court permits incorporation of other documents by reference into a contract.

Wash. State Major League Baseball Stadium Pub. Facilities v. Huber, 176

Wn.2d 502, 517, 296 P.3d 821 (2013) ("In general, '[i]f the parties to a contract clearly and unequivocally incorporate by reference into their

contract some other document, that document becomes part of their contract.") (quoting Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 801, 225 P.3d 213 (2009); W. Wash. Corp. of Seventh Day Adventists v. Ferrellgas, Inc., 102 Wn. App. 488, 494, 7 P.3d 861 (2000) ("Incorporation by reference allows the parties to 'incorporate contractual terms by reference to a separate ... agreement to which they are not parties, and including a separate document which is unsigned.") (quoting 11 Williston on Contracts § 30:25, at 233-34 (4th ed. 1999)). Indeed, the doctrine of incorporation by reference does not require that the document referred to actually be attached to the contract. Knight v. Am. Nat'l Bank, 52 Wn. App. 1, 4-6, 756 P.2d 757 (1988) (finding that lease complied with statute of frauds even though the two exhibits to which it referred, and which contained the legal description, were not physically attached to the lease itself).

Here, the 2005 PSA incorporated the Park Addendum by reference: "In any event, if there arise any dispute over the scope of the applicable clause(s) on Specific terms of Addendum, 1 through 14, (dated 2/19/2005)[] Pre[v]ious agreement executed on September 8, 2004, page 1 through 13, super[s]edes and replaces any provision on the topics contained in purchase and sale agreement proposed and executed on

February 19, 2005." Ex. 10 at p. 10. The Park Addendum contains complete legal descriptions for each of the Parks' parcels on pages one and two. See Ex. 4. Indeed, in denying the Parks' motion for a directed verdict, the trial court found that the 2005 PSA incorporated the Park Addendum, thus satisfying the statute of frauds by reference. See RP 363:19-25.

The Parks argue that since there was no fully signed-around agreement in 2004, then the reference to the "Pre[v]ious agreement" has no meaning. Park Brief at p. 31. But all parties to the 2005 PSA knew to what this sentence referred. Dr. Park insisted that the Park Addendum be incorporated into the 2005 PSA. RP 175:18-178:19; 195:16-196:8; 198:19-199:6. And Mark McNaughton testified that he knew the phrase referred to the Park Addendum that the Parks' attorney, Greg Home, had drafted for the 2004 negotiations that ultimately fell through. RP 72:4-18. While no fully signed-around agreement was reached in 2004, everyone knew the phrase "Pre[v]ious agreement executed on September 8, 2004, page 1 through 13" referred to the Park Addendum. "As noted in Suess v. Heale, 68 Wn.2d 962, 966, 416 P.2d 458 1966): 'Necessary implications are as much a part of an agreement as though the implied terms were plainly expressed.'" Sackman Orchards v. Mountain View Orchards, 56

Wn. App. 705, 707, 784 P.2d 1308 (1990) (refusing to permit "creative lawyers" to exploit a typographical error to "obscure the clear intention of the parties.").

E. TMG's Lis Pendens was Legitimate

While a lis pendens would not be proper in a case where money damages are sought, here, TMG had every right to record a notice of lis pendens while their specific performance claim was pending. Bramall v. Wales, 29 Wn. App. 390, 395, 628 P.2d 511 (1981) (quoting Cutter v. Cutter Realty Co., 265 N.C. 664, 668, 144 S.E.2d 882 (1965)). A plaintiff or defendant may only record a lis pendens "after an action affecting title to the real property has been commenced," such as an action seeking specific performance of a real estate sales contract. RCW 4.28.320. The lis pendens serves as:

[C]onstructive notice to a purchaser or encumbrancer of the property affected person thereby, and every whose conveyance or encumbrance is subsequently executed or subsequently recorded shall be subsequent purchaser deemed a encumbrancer, and shall be bound by all proceedings taken after the filing of such notice to the same extent as if he or she were a party to the action.

<u>Id.</u>; see also <u>United Sav. & Loan Bank v. Pallis</u>, 107 Wn. App. 398, 405, 27 P.3d 629 (2001).

TMG's lis pendens only remained on title while TMG pursued a claim for specific performance. That is, if TMG had been awarded specific performance during that time period, anyone to whom the Parks attempted to sell the property would be on notice that title was contested.² The trial court did not err in instructing the jury that the lis pendens was legitimate.

F. The Trial Court Appropriately Ordered the Parks' Former Attorney to Answer a Jury Question and Testify on Non-Privileged Matters.

The Parks claim that the trial court erred in allowing Mr. Home to testify at trial as to whether he provided the Parks with a written opinion regarding the purchase price. But the Parks fail to acknowledge that they waived any privilege (if one exists) when Dr. Park testified about Mr. Home's opinion during direct examination. Moreover, the trial court did not question Mr. Home regarding the opinion itself, but instead appropriately limited the inquiry to whether an opinion existed.

Therefore, the trial court's decision to ask Mr. Home about whether he

² Indeed, the Parks offered no evidence to support their claim that TMG's recording of a lis pendens caused them to be unable to market their property or caused their property's value to diminish. Their own expert testified that liens on the property, including a lis pendens, are generally ignored by appraisers when assessing fair market value. RP 445:15-446:22. Thus, his valuation did not account for TMG's lien.

provided a written opinion was not prejudicial because the content of the opinion, if any, was never disclosed.

A client waives the privilege as to an entire confidential communication by testifying about part of that communication. State v. Vandenberg, 19 Wn. App. 182, 186, 575 P.2d 254 (1978) (citing Martin v. Shaen, 22 Wn.2d 505, 513, 156 P.2d 681 (1945) (holding that once testimony is introduced on a material fact that would be privileged, a party cannot hide behind the privilege to prevent further disclosure: "He could not be permitted to disclose so much of the transaction as he saw fit and then withhold the remainder."). Here, Dr. Park introduced testimony regarding Mr. Home during direct examination. Specifically, Dr. Park testified that Mr. Home told the Parks they were entitled to an additional \$180,000. RP 476:1-6. By doing so, the Parks waived any privilege as to confidential communications between the Parks and Mr. Home.

Even if the Parks had not waived the privilege, the trial court did not err in allowing Mr. Home to testify because Mr. Home did not disclose any confidential communications. Washington case law stands for the proposition that if the <u>substance</u> of the confidential communications between a client and his attorney are not revealed, the disclosure of information related to the attorney-client relationship is not barred by the

statutory attorney-client privilege. See, e.g., Seventh Elect Church in

Israel v. Rogers, 102 Wn.2d 527, 531, 688 P.2d 506 (1984) (citing United

States v. Hodge & Zweig, 548 F.2d 1347, 1353 (9th Cir. 1977)

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